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missionmission

Gulf Investment House (GIH), founded in 1998, is one of GCC’s leading financial services companies. GIH is a 
shareholding company based in Kuwait and listed on the Kuwait stock exchange with a subscribed and paid up 
capital of KD 44.2 million (U.S. $ 159 million).

The shareholders of GIH include well-respected and reputable Kuwaiti and regional financial institutions and 
individuals. With a diverse shareholder group, and a reputed Sharia’ Board, GIH has the capability to access 
significant capital for the Private Equity, Real Estate and Direct Investments which form the core business 
activities of the company.
GIH has investments in GCC, USA and other selected markets.

Our Guiding Principles
In our relationships with shareholders, clients and business associates, and in all our activities, GIH is committed to:

Sharia’ Compliance:
GIH’s activities, internal and external, fully comply with Islamic Sharia’.

Integrity:
All GIH’s activities are conducted with the highest standards of integrity.

Partnership:
GIH works in partnership with its shareholders, clients and business partners.

Decision Making:
GIH’s structure and company culture facilitate open communication supported by teamwork and quick, but 

prudent decisions.

Client Focus:
Fulfilling customer expectations and objectives is a top priority for GIH.

About  GIH
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To the Shareholders of
Gulf Investment House
In the Name of Allah, the Most Merciful, the Most Compassionate

All praise is due to Allah, Lord of the worlds, and blessings and peace 
be upon His Messenger Prophet Mohammad, and upon His family, 
companions and whoever follow his guidance until the Day of Resurrection.

We have reviewed the principles followed and the contracts relating to the 
transactions and applications introduced by Gulf Investment House (the 
Company) during the year ended 31 December 2009. We have carried out 
our review to form an opinion as to whether the Company has complied with 
Sharia’ Rules and Principles and also with the specific fatwas, resolutions 
and guidelines issued by us.

We have perused the Sharia’ compliance report prepared by the Company 
which included results of examination of Sharia’ compliance, carried out 
on a test basis, each type of transaction, the relevant documentation and 
procedures adopted by the Company.

We have conducted our compliance review which requires us to obtain 
all the information and interpretations which we considered necessary in 
order to provide reasonable assurance that the Company has not violated 
Islamic Sharia’ Principles.

In Our Opinion
The contracts, transactions and activities conducted by the Company 
during the year ended 31 December 2009 are in compliance with the 
Islamic Sharia’ Rules and Principles.

Fatwa & Sharia’  Supervisory Board Report

Sheikh Ahmed Bazie Al-Yaseen
Chairman

Dr. Ajeel Jasem Al-Nashmi
Member

Dr. Mubarak Jaza Al-Harbi
Member

Dr. Abdul Aziz Khalifah Al-Qassar
Member
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Board  of Directors

Faisal Abdullah Al-Khazam
Chairman

Waleed Abdul Rahman Al-Rowaih
Vice Chairman

Abdullah Abdul Latif Al-Shaya
Board Member

Emad Youssef Al-Monayea
Board Member

Adel Abdul Hamid Al-Jasem
Board Member

Abdul Aziz Nasser Al-Marzooq
Board Member

Yousif Abdullah Al-Ghunaim
Board Member
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Executive  Management

Mr. Bader Abdullah Al-Ali (1)

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Bashar Naser AlTuwaijri (2)

Senior Vice President –
Direct Investments

Mr. Aref Abdulla Al-Ajmi (8)

Assistant Vice President –
Human Resources & Administration

Mr. Abdullah Ali AlSane (4)

Vice President –
Direct Investments

Mr. Ayham Mohamad Abu-Rshaid (5)

Vice President –
Direct Investments

Mr. Mohammad Omar Jasser (9)

Consultant –
Sharia’ Compliance

Mr. Saleh Turkey AlKhamees (6)

Vice President –
Investment Funds

Mr. Mohamed Mahsoom Ameen (7)

Vice President –
Operations

Mr. Yaser Abdel Aziz Gomaa (10)

Assistant Vice President –
Financial Control

Mr. Rafeeq Mohiddin Maruf (3)

Senior Vice President –
Treasury

Mr. Ahed Mohammed Okasha (11)

Senior Manager –
Information Technologyleadershipleadership

(1)(4)

(7)(11)

(8)
(10)(9)

(5)

(3)
(2) (6)
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Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of directors, it gives me great pleasure to present the Annual Report of Gulf Investment House (GIH) for the fiscal 
year ended in December 31, 2009. The report includes the achievements, performance and financial statements, along with the auditors’ 
report and the Fatwa & Sharia’ Supervisory report.

GIH has witnessed one of the most challenging years in its history due to the global financial crisis, and its repercussions on the regional 
and local markets. The conservative and prudent policy of our company has helped absorb the shocks of the crisis and face these 
challenges to maintain the financial position of the Company. Furthermore, the year 2009 has witnessed a number of achievements and 
established again the uniqueness of GIH as one of the leading investment and financial companies in the region.

The past year has seen a drop in our operational revenues and so did our associates and subsidiaries. Additionally, we conducted a 
comprehensive evaluation of our investments and allocated provisions for impairment of investments amounting to KD 11 million, and 
an additional provisions of KD 2 million for non-performing debts. This has resulted in losses amounting to KD 20.5 million for the year 
2009, at 48.69 fils per share. The total assets were KD 104 million by the end of the year, while the shareholders equity amounted to KD 
42 million. The Board of Directors has recommended not to distribute any profits for the year ended in December 31, 2009.

Paying great efforts to conclude its debt restructuring, GIH achieved significant progress in the negotiations with its lead bank to 
restructure the short term financial obligations and thus, all the foreign debts will be settled during the year 2010. GIH is one of the few 
companies that were able to settle a great portion of its bank debts, and is seen by industry professionals as a great accomplishment 
considering the current environment. 

GIH is starting the new year with a more optimistic view and a set of promising strategies and indicators including more attention to the 
selection of most appropriate investment opportunities in Kuwait as well as in the region, to enhance value to shareholders. Building on 
this well-established and wise strategy, GIH will continue to identify and explore more direct investment opportunities in vital sectors 
such as industry, health and education. Here once again, we affirm that all investment activities planned and executed by us are well 
measured and verified for compliance with the rules of Islamic Sharia which is the beacon of Gulf Investment House business. GIH will 
also continue supporting and promoting the company’s social responsibility program, of which Islamic values are key elements.

Here, I would like to extend sincere thanks to our honorable shareholders whose trust has largely supported our business. I would also 
thank the members of board of directors, our strategic partners and the staff of Gulf Investment House who have not saved any effort to 
enhance the company’s performance, and wish them wellbeing and all the prosperity to Kuwait.

Finally, and on behalf of the members of board of directors, I would like to extend our best appreciation and loyalty to His Highness The 
Amir of Kuwait Sheikh Sabah Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, His Highness the Crown Prince Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah 
and pray to Almighty Allah to bless our country with prosperity and progress.

vision

Chairman’s  Message

Faisal Abdullah Al-Khazam
Chairman

vision
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commitment Dear Valued Shareholders,

The year 2009 has been marked with significant challenges for Gulf Investment House (GIH). GIH however was able, by the grace of 
Almighty God, to overcome the financial crisis that affected even the largest corporations in the world, by way of it’s conservative and 
balanced strategy.

The focus of GIH was on maintaining the financial position of the company, and dealing with the effects of the global crisis on the 
markets where GIH  operates. The Company was able to accomplish a number of successful exits valued at KD 14 million, which has 
positively affected its liquidity, and lifted the cash flow of the company up to KD 8 million by the end of 2009. One of these successful 
exits was the sale of Halcore Inc., a US company that specialized in the manufacturing of emergency and ambulance vehicles. Out of 
the deal, GIH was able to achieve the largest exit transaction, and distributed US $ 51 million as dividends to the portfolio shareholders 
and investors.

During 2009, GIH has taken an initiative with the commencement of restructuring its financial obligations. This operation is running 
positively where the company has already settled KD 18 million out of its foreign debts in 2009 and 2010, and will also settle KD 13 
million due to foreign banks in the coming few months. Such initiative is considered a remarkable achievement, one that has reinforced 
the creditors trust in one of the toughest financial turmoils the world ever experienced.

Financial and economic studies and  indicators may tell us that end of this financial crisis in near as the signs of recovery appear, but 
this healing does not necessarily mean that the world markets will be as healthy as they were before the crisis. The real revival requires 
high transparency and wise governmental policies that are responsible and committed. We believe that 2010 will be an evaluation year 
for many companies, to re-think their business models and strategies.

What we applied so far in GIH, expresses the clear and cautious prudency that, undoubtedly helped preserve the company’s financial 
position, and to emphasize, once again, the company’s philosophy in approaching investment opportunities. Therefore, we are looking 
forward with an optimistic attitude to turn our short and long term strategies into reality and to re-enter the investment markets 
strongly with a clear objective to enhance shareholders returns. 

On the national level, GIH has maintained its belief in the importance of promoting local talent and providing the optimal environment to 
improve their skills and competencies and is keen on increasing the Kuwaitization through the company. In addition, GIH has developed 
a clear criteria, for conduct and professional relationships with its shareholders, customers and associates, and transparency that 
governs its relationship with society in general.

Finally, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to the Chairman and members of the Board of Directors, and especially to
GIH employees who have shown dedication and loyalty. I wish them all the success and progress, and pray for Kuwait’s prosperity 
and welfare.

commitment CEO’s  Message

Bader Abdullah Al-Ali
Chief Executive Officer



20 21

Social Responsibility  Report

Based on its continuous commitment towards its community, Gulf Investment House (GIH) keeps broadening and focusing, year after year, its social concerns through a number of 
sponsorships and participations which have great impact in this aspect. This is in spite of the fact that most major companies and financial corporates worldwide are cutting their 
expenses and freezing their programs in different domains.

The following are some highlights of our social responsibility activities:

Supporting the Islamic financial industry
In compliance with GIH’s permanent support to the Kuwaiti economy in general, and the Islamic financial industry in particular, and to insure the continuous growth of the Islamic 
Financial Industry, GIH sponsored the 2nd Sharia’ Auditors Conference, and also participated in honoring Sheikh Mohammed Fawzi Faidullah, the ex-member of GIH’s Sharia’ & 
Fatwa Board.

Supporting social and charitable organizations
GIH pays special care to support charitable organizations to encourage and entrench the sense of social solidarity amongst all the segments and classes of the community. Based 
on its belief in their role GIH provided support to Zakat House and Kuwait Autism Center.

Supporting the talented individuals 
With the aim of supporting people with talents, GIH strongly backed these individuals in order to help them improve their creativity and performance to higher levels.

Implementing the best CSR practice towards the GIH staff
GIH considers its team of employees as the main asset and the source of wealth and progress in the organization. Therefore, the Company conducted a series of training courses 
and professional improvement programs, such as a course in the “Basics of Islamic Financial Business”. The Company also adopts a social communication policy that supports 
the social activities and events of its employees to relieve the stress of daily routine work, by organizing sports and social activities such as the Open Day and the annual Ramadan 
Ghabka. GIH also awarded and honored its employees who participated in special sports championships with the support of the Company.  
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Economic Status  Report

World Economic Outlook Update:

The global recovery is off to a stronger start than anticipated earlier but is proceeding at 
different speeds in the various regions (Figure 1). Following the deepest global downturn 
in recent history, economic growth solidified and broadened to advanced economies 
in the second half of 2009. In 2010, world output is expected to rise by 4 percent. This 
represents an upward revision of ¾ percentage point from the October 2009 World 
Economic Outlook. In most advanced economies, the recovery is expected to remain 
sluggish by past standards, whereas in many emerging and developing economies, 
activity is expected to be relatively vigorous, largely driven by buoyant internal demand. 
Policies need to foster a rebalancing of global demand, remaining supportive where 
recoveries are not yet well sustained. (1)

Real activity is rebounding, supported by extraordinary policy stimulus

Global production and trade bounced back in the second half of 2009 (Figure 2). Confidence 
rebounded strongly on both the financial and real fronts, as extraordinary policy support 
forestalled another Great Depression. In advanced economies, the beginning of a turn 
in the inventory cycle and the unexpected strength in U.S. consumption contributed to 
positive developments. Final domestic demand was very strong in key emerging and 
developing economies, although the turn in the inventory cycle and the normalization of 
global trade also played an important role. (2)

1
 World Economic Outlook Update. IMF. January 2010.

2
 Previous source.
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Figure 1. Global GDP Growth
(Percent quarter-over-quarter, annualized)

Source: IMF staff estimates

Figure 2. Selected High-Frequency Indicators
(Annualized percent chance of 3-month moving average over previous 

3-month moving average unless otherwise noted)
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1. Argentina, Brazil, Bulgaria, Chile, China, Colombia, Estonia, Hungary, India, Indonesia Latvia, 
Lithuania, Malaysia, Mexico, Pakistan, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Romania, Russia, Slovak Republic, 
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Norway, Singapore, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan Province of China, United Kingdom and United 
States.
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Economic Status  Report

• Money markets have stabilized, and the tightening of bank lending standards has
moderated. Moreover, most banks in core markets are now less reliant on central 
bank emergency facilities and government guarantees. Nonetheless, bank lending is 
likely to remain sluggish, given the need to rebuild capital, the weakness of private 
securitization, and the possibility of further credit write-downs, notably related to 
commercial real estate.

• Equity markets have rebounded, and corporate bond issuance has reached record
levels, amid a reopening of most high-yield markets. However, the surge in corporate 
bond issuance has not offset the reduction in bank credit growth to the private sector. 
Those sectors that have only limited access to capital markets, namely consumers and 
small and medium-size enterprises, are likely to continue to face credit constraints. So 
far, public lending programs and guarantees have been critical in channeling credit to 
these sectors.

• Sovereign debt has come under pressure for some small countries, as they struggle
with large government deficits and debt, and as investors increasingly differentiate 
across countries.

Amid a relatively rapid return to healthy growth in many emerging economies, portfolio 
flows into these markets have picked up, easing financial conditions and prompting 
nascent concerns about asset price valuations. By contrast, cross-border bank financing 
is still contracting in most regions, as global banks continue to deliver. This will limit 
domestic credit growth, especially in regions that had been most reliant on cross-border 
bank flows.

Major Events:

With higher oil prices and the anticipated reemergence of global demand, oil revenues will 
increase, allowing oil exporters to rebuild their international reserve positions—by more 
than US$100 billion in 2010. This, in turn, provides the basis for maintaining spending. 
With the Gulf Cooperation Council’s share of world imports expected to increase from 
2.7 percent in 2008 to 3.2 percent in 2010, the region’s contribution to global demand 
will remain high. (3)

Inflation pressures will remain subdued in most economies:

The still-low levels of capacity utilization and well-anchored inflation expectations are 
expected to contain inflation pressures. In the advanced economies, headline inflation is 
expected to pick up from zero in 2009 to 1¼ percent in 2010. In emerging and developing 
economies, inflation is expected to edge up to 6¼ percent in 2010, as some of these 
economies may face growing upward pressures due to more limited economic slack and 
increased capital flows. (4)

Recovery is proceeding at varying speeds:

Output in the advanced economies is now expected to expand by 2 percent in 2010, 
following a sharp decline in output in 2009. The new forecast reflects an upward revision 
of ¾ percentage point. In 2011, growth is projected to edge up further to 2½ percent. In 
spite of the revision, the recovery in advanced economies is still expected to be weak by 
historical standards, with real output remaining below its pre-crisis level until late 2011. 
Moreover, high unemployment rates and public debt, as well as not-fully-healed financial 
systems, and in some countries, weak household balance sheets are presenting further 
challenges to the recovery in these economies.

Growth in emerging and developing economies is expected to rise to about 6 percent 
in 2010, following a modest 2 percent in 2009. The new projection reflects an upward 
revision of almost 1 percentage point. In 2011, output is projected to accelerate further. 
Stronger economic frameworks and swift policy responses have helped many emerging 
economies to cushion the impact of the unprecedented external shock and quickly re-
attract capital flows.

Within both groups, growth performance is expected to vary considerably across 
countries and regions, reflecting different initial conditions, external shocks, and policy 
responses. For instance, key emerging economies in Asia are leading the global recovery. 
A few advanced European economies and a number of economies in central and eastern 
Europe and the Commonwealth of Independent States are lagging behind. The rebound 
of commodity prices is helping support growth in commodity producers in all regions. 
Many developing countries in sub-Saharan Africa that experienced only a mild slowdown 
in 2009 are well placed to recover in 2010.

Financial conditions have improved further but remain 
challenging:

Financial markets have recovered faster than expected (Figure 3), helped by 
strengthening activity. Nevertheless, financial conditions are likely to remain more 
difficult than before the crisis. Specifically:

3
 Regional Economic Outlook-Middle East and Central Asia. IMF. October 2009.

4
 World Economic Outlook Update. IMF. January 2010.

Sources: Haver Analytics and IMF staff calculations.

Figure 3. Global Inflation
(Twelve-month change in the consumer price index unless otherwise noted)
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Associate and Subsidiary  Companies

Sultanate of Oman

March 2008
OMR. 25 million
Real Estate

Majan Development Co. (Majan)

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

State of Kuwait

April 2006
KD. 30 million (50% Paid Up)
Industrial & Services

Afkar Holding Co. (Afkar)

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

State of Kuwait

August 2003
KD. 22.1 million
Real Estate

Arkan Al-Kuwait Real Estate Co. (Arkan)

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

Kingdom of Bahrain

June 2002
US$ 114.6 million
Investment

Inovest Co. (Formerly Tameer)

Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

September 2004
SR. 431.7 million
Real Estate

Gulf Real Estate Co.

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

State of Kuwait

February 2004
KD. 20 million 
Real Estate Finance and 
Investments

Amar Finance and Leasing Co. (Amar)

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

Kingdom of Bahrain

June 1981
US$ 63.6 million
Investment

(Formerly Al-Khaleej Finance and Investment)

Country:
Date of
Incorporation:
Capital:
Sector:

United Arab Emirates

June 2006
UAE Dirham 577.5 million
Real Estate

Madaen Real Estate Co. (Madaen)

Place of Investment:
Launch Date:
Sector:

U.S.A
2003
Industrial

Halcore Group, Inc.
Place of Investment:
Launch Date:
Sector:

U.S.A
2004
Industrial

StrongHaven, Inc.

Associate and Subsidiary  Companies
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Place of Investment:
Launch Date:
Capital:
Sector:

U.S.A
2005
US$ 32.7 million
Real Estate – Medical Offices

Care Fund

Place of Investment:
Launch Date:
Capital:
Sector:

Kingdom of Bahrain
2007
B.D 10 million
Real Estate – Residential & Commercial

Durrat Al-Marina Fund (Co-sponsor) 
Place of Investment:
Launch Date:
Capital:
Sector:

U.S.A
2006
US$ 33.1 million
Real Estate – Residential

U.S Residential 
Condominiums Fund Ⅱ

Place of Investment:
Launch Date:
Capital:
Sector:

U.S.A
2007
US$ 60.6 million
Real Estate – Medical Offices

Care 2 Fund

Funds and  Companies
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries    
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT  
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 

2009 2008
Notes KD  KD  

INCOME    
Murabaha and wakala income  269,790 932,780 
Placement, arrangement and management fees  320,921 1,966,729 
Realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through 
  income statement 

 
 

 
(46,257) 

 
(367,362) 

Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through  
  income statement 

 
5 

 
(3,548,273) 

 
(3,185,119) 

Realised (loss) gain on sale of financial assets available for sale  (166,832) 397,769 
Share of results of associates 8 (605,117) 5,434,931 
Realised gain on partial sale of investment in associates  -      3,187,468 
Dividend income  476,323 625,167 
Unrealised loss from revaluation of trading properties  (423,750) (197,500) 
Unrealised loss from revaluation of investment properties 9 (408,068) (343,698) 
Realised (loss) gain on sale of investment properties  (332,777) 54,816 
Rental income from investment properties  110,488 291,510 
Other income  131,452 112,685 
  ────────── ────────── 
 (4,222,100) 8,910,176 
  ────────── ────────── 
EXPENSES    
Staff costs  (947,975) (1,576,017) 
Administrative expenses  (782,508) (944,090) 
Foreign exchange loss  (993,926) (619,461) 
Provision for credit losses  (2,203,948) (603,405) 
Impairment of financial assets available for sale 6 (6,832,540) -     
Murabaha charges  (4,101,239) (2,835,025) 
Investment expenses  (447,224) (463,907) 
  ────────── ────────── 
  (16,309,360) (7,041,905) 
  ────────── ────────── 

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE CONTRIBUTION TO KUWAIT 
  FOUNDATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF SCIENCES 
  (“KFAS”), NATIONAL LABOUR SUPPORT TAX (“NLST”), ZAKAT 
  AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 

  
 
 

(20,531,460) 

 
 
 

1,868,271 
KFAS -       (3,773) 
NLST  -       (25,236) 
Zakat -       (4,356) 
Directors’ remuneration 16 -      (14,000) 
  ────────── ────────── 
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR   (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
  ════════    ════════ 

    
Basic (loss) earnings per share 3   (48.69) fils     4.32 fils     
  ══════════ ══════════ 
Diluted (loss) earnings per share 3 (48.69) fils    4.31 fils    
  ══════════ ══════════ 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 

2009 2008
KD  KD  

    
(Loss) profit for the year  (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
   ────────── ────────── 
    
Other comprehensive (expense) income    
Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  (7,882,890) 30,415 
Transfer to consolidated income statement on sale of financial assets 
  available for sale 

  
111,504 

 
(205,850) 

Transfer to consolidated income statement on impairment  6,832,540 -      
  ────────── ────────── 
Other comprehensive (expense) income  (938,846) (175,435) 
  ────────── ────────── 
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (21,470,306) 1,645,471 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 

2009 2008
KD  KD  

    
(Loss) profit for the year  (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
   ────────── ────────── 
    
Other comprehensive (expense) income    
Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  (7,882,890) 30,415 
Transfer to consolidated income statement on sale of financial assets 
  available for sale 

  
111,504 

 
(205,850) 

Transfer to consolidated income statement on impairment  6,832,540 -      
  ────────── ────────── 
Other comprehensive (expense) income  (938,846) (175,435) 
  ────────── ────────── 
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (21,470,306) 1,645,471 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 

2009 2008
KD  KD  

    
(Loss) profit for the year  (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
   ────────── ────────── 
    
Other comprehensive (expense) income    
Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  (7,882,890) 30,415 
Transfer to consolidated income statement on sale of financial assets 
  available for sale 

  
111,504 

 
(205,850) 

Transfer to consolidated income statement on impairment  6,832,540 -      
  ────────── ────────── 
Other comprehensive (expense) income  (938,846) (175,435) 
  ────────── ────────── 
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (21,470,306) 1,645,471 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 

2009 2008
KD  KD  

    
(Loss) profit for the year  (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
   ────────── ────────── 
    
Other comprehensive (expense) income    
Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  (7,882,890) 30,415 
Transfer to consolidated income statement on sale of financial assets 
  available for sale 

  
111,504 

 
(205,850) 

Transfer to consolidated income statement on impairment  6,832,540 -      
  ────────── ────────── 
Other comprehensive (expense) income  (938,846) (175,435) 
  ────────── ────────── 
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (21,470,306) 1,645,471 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 31 December 2009  
 

2009 2008 
Note KD KD

OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
(Loss) profit before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and 
  directors’ remuneration 

  
(20,531,460) 

 
1,868,271 

Non-cash adjustment to reconcile (loss) profit before contribution to 
  KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration to net cash flows: 
  Depreciation  176,730 224,077 
  Cost of share based payment  -      326,340 
  Share of results of  associates   605,117 (5,434,931) 
  Realised gain on partial sale of investment in associates  -      (3,187,468) 
  Realised loss (gain) on sale of financial assets available for sale  166,832 (397,769) 
  Unrealised loss from revaluation of investment properties   408,068 343,698  
  Realised loss (gain) on sale of investment properties  332,777 (54,816) 
  Unrealised loss from revaluation of trading properties  423,750 197,500 
  Dividend income  (476,323) (625,167) 
  Provision for credit losses  2,203,948 603,405  
  Impairment of financial assets available for sale  6,832,540 -    
  Murabaha charges  4,101,239 2,835,025 
Working capital adjustments:    
  Financial assets at fair value through income statement  4,731,404 5,035,907  
  Wakala receivables  (232,409) 3,748,353  
  Other assets  (151,980) (213,622) 
  Other liabilities  (377,028) (2,285,096) 
  ───────── ───────── 
Cash (used in) from operations  (1,786,795)  2,983,707  
Murabaha charges paid  (4,101,239) (2,835,025) 
  ───────── ───────── 
Net cash (used in) from operating activities  (5,888,034)  148,682  
  ───────── ───────── 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of financial assets available for sale  (3,267,024) (18,666,213) 
Capital redemption of financial assets available for sale  967,789 561,726  
Proceeds from sale of financial assets available for sale  3,486,644 1,237,415  
Investment in associates  -      (11,048,271) 
Proceeds from partial sale of investment in associates  -      7,181,866 
Dividends received from associates  1,165,010 1,647,445 
Dividend received from others  336,408 625,167 
Purchase of investment properties  -      (1,230,800) 
Proceeds from sale of investment properties  3,257,981 330,800 
Additions to trading properties  (3,750) -    
Purchase of furniture and equipment  (4,283) (30,167) 
  ───────── ───────── 
Net cash from (used in) investing activities 5,938,775      (19,391,032) 
  ───────── ───────── 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Issue of share capital  -      286,000 
Dividends paid  (1,336,808) (9,729,463) 
Net movement in murabaha  payables  5,789,840 28,219,701 
Purchase of treasury shares  -      (279,221) 
Net movement in restricted bank accounts  1,336,808 (289,966) 
  ───────── ───────── 
Net cash from financing activities  5,789,840       18,207,051  
  ───────── ───────── 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  5,840,581 (1,035,299) 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   1,600,927 2,636,226 
  ───────── ───────── 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER  4 7,441,508 1,600,927 
  ═════════ ═════════ 

 
 
 

The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 December 2009  
 
         

     Other reserves   

Share 
capital   

Share 
premium 

Share 
options
reserve 

Statutory 
reserve 

Voluntary 
reserve Sub-total 

Cumulative 
changes in fair 

values 
Treasury 
shares 

Treasury 
shares 
reserve 

Retained 
Earnings 

(accumulated 
losses) 

  Total 
        equity 

  KD   KD KD KD KD  KD KD KD KD KD  KD 
         
           
As at 1 January 2009  44,219,114 658,108 737,322 8,755,890 6,378,566 15,134,456 (96,460) (7,847,874) 940,578 9,795,997 63,541,241 
Loss for the year  -     -    -    -     -     -     -       -    -     (20,531,460) (20,531,460) 
Other comprehensive expense  -     -    -    -     -     -     (938,846) -    -     -     (938,846) 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
Total comprehensive expense for the year  -     -    -    -     -     -     (938,846) -    -     (20,531,460) (21,470,306) 
Zakat  -     -    -    -     (113,362) (113,362) -     -    -     -     (113,362) 
  ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── ─────── 
As at 31 December 2009  44,219,114 658,108 737,322 8,755,890 6,265,204 15,021,094 (1,035,306) (7,847,874) 940,578 (10,735,463) 41,957,573 
  ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ 
          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 
              Other reserves 

    Share    Cumulative  Treasury 
  Share 

capital   
Share 

premium 
Options 
reserve 

Statutory 
reserve 

Voluntary 
reserve Sub-total 

changes in fair 
values 

Treasury 
shares 

shares 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

  Total 
        equity 

  KD   KD KD KD KD  KD KD KD KD KD  KD 
         
           
As at 1 January 2008    41,922,966      572,108      410,982 8,569,063 6,685,053 15,254,116         78,975 (7,568,653)       940,578 20,577,822 72,188,894 
Profit for the year  -     -     -     -     -     -     -      -     -     1,820,906  1,820,906 
Other comprehensive expense   -     -     -     -     -     -     (175,435) -     -     -     (175,435) 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total comprehensive (expense) income 
  for the year   

-     
 

-     
 

-     
 

-     
 

-     
 

-     
 

(175,435)        -     
 

 -     
 

1,820,906 
 

1,645,471 
Dividends of 2007  -     -     -     -     -     -     -      -     -     (10,019,429) (10,019,429) 
Issue of bonus shares  2,096,148 -     -     -     -     -     -      -     -     (2,096,148) -     
Issue of share capital  200,000 86,000 -     -     -     -     -      -     -     -     286,000 
Purchase of treasury shares  -     -     -     -     -     -     -      (279,221) -     -     (279,221) 
Cost of share based payment  -     -     326,340 -     -     -     -      -     -     -     326,340 
Transfer to reserves  -     -     -     186,827 186,827 373,654 -      -     -     (373,654) -     
Transfer of excess credit loss provision to  
  voluntary reserve (note 12)  -     -     -     -     113,500 113,500 -      -     -     (113,500) -     
Zakat  -     -     -     -     (606,814)  (606,814) -      -     -     -     (606,814) 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
As at 31 December 2008  44,219,114 658,108 737,322 8,755,890 6,378,566 15,134,456 (96,460) (7,847,874) 940,578 9,795,997 63,541,241 
  ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
          

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 

2009 2008
KD  KD  

    
(Loss) profit for the year  (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
   ────────── ────────── 
    
Other comprehensive (expense) income    
Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  (7,882,890) 30,415 
Transfer to consolidated income statement on sale of financial assets 
  available for sale 

  
111,504 

 
(205,850) 

Transfer to consolidated income statement on impairment  6,832,540 -      
  ────────── ────────── 
Other comprehensive (expense) income  (938,846) (175,435) 
  ────────── ────────── 
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (21,470,306) 1,645,471 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 31 December 2009 
 

2009 2008
KD  KD  

    
(Loss) profit for the year  (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
   ────────── ────────── 
    
Other comprehensive (expense) income    
Change in fair value of financial assets available for sale  (7,882,890) 30,415 
Transfer to consolidated income statement on sale of financial assets 
  available for sale 

  
111,504 

 
(205,850) 

Transfer to consolidated income statement on impairment  6,832,540 -      
  ────────── ────────── 
Other comprehensive (expense) income  (938,846) (175,435) 
  ────────── ────────── 
Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (21,470,306) 1,645,471 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The attached notes 1 to 28 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
31 December 2009 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 
 
 
The Group has adopted the following new applicable and amended IFRSs during the year: 
 
 IFRS 2 Share Based Payment (Revised) 
 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amended) 
 IFRS 8 Operating Segments 
 IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)  
 
IFRS 2 Share Based Payment (Revised) 
The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 which clarifies the definition of vesting conditions and prescribes the 
treatment for an award that is cancelled. The Group adopted this amendment as of 1 January 2009. It did not have 
an impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 
 
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amended) 
The amended standard requires additional disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value 
measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three level 
fair value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognised at fair value. In addition, a reconciliation 
between the beginning and ending balance for level 3 fair value measurements is now required, as well as 
significant transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy. The amendments also clarify the requirements for 
liquidity risk disclosures with respect to derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity management. The 
fair value measurement disclosures are presented in Note 28. The liquidity risk disclosures are not significantly 
impacted by the amendments and are presented in Note 22. 
 
IFRS 8 ‘Operating segments’: 
IFRS 8 replaced IAS 14 Segment Reporting upon its effective date. The Group concluded that the operating 
segments determined in accordance with IFRS 8 are the same as the business segments previously identified 
under IAS 14. IFRS 8 disclosures are shown in Note 19, including the related revised comparative information. 
 
IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (Revised): 
The revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity 
includes only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. In 
addition, the standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of recognised 
income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group has elected to present 
two statements. 
 
The following International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) Standards applicable to the Group have 
been issued but are not yet mandatory, and have not yet been adopted by the Group: 
 
IFRS 3R Business Combinations and IAS 27R Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (applicable for 
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting 
period beginning  on or after 1 July 2009, i.e. 1 January 2010 for the group):  
IFRS 3R introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after this date that 
will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and 
future reported results. IAS 27R requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of 
control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, 
nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred 
by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were made to IAS 7 
Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, IAS 28 
Investment in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes by IFRS 3R and IAS 27R will affect 
future acquisitions or loss of control and transactions with non-controlling interests. The standards may be early 
applied. 

Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
31 December 2009 
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
The consolidated financial statements of Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) (the “Parent Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2009 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors on 31 March 2010. The shareholders’ Annual General Assembly has the power 
to amend these consolidated financial statements after issuance. 
 
The Parent Company is a Kuwaiti closed shareholding company registered and incorporated in Kuwait on 8 
September 1998 under the Commercial Companies Law No. 15 of 1960 and amendments thereto. The Parent 
Company is registered with the Central Bank of Kuwait as an investment company. Details of subsidiary companies 
are set out in note 2.3.  
 
The Group is primarily engaged in investment activities and related financial and advisory services.  All activities of 
the Group are carried out in compliance with the Noble Islamic Sharee’a, as approved by the Parent Company’s 
Fatwa and Sharee’a Supervisory Board.   
 
The Parent Company’s Fatwa and Sharee’a Supervisory Board consist of four eminent Islamic scholars who review 
the Parent Company’s compliance with general Sharee’a principles and specific Fatwas, rulings and guidelines 
issued. Their review includes examination of evidence relating to the documentation and procedures adopted by the 
Parent Company to ensure that its activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Sharee’a principles. 
 
Under the guidance of its Fatwa and Sharee’a Supervisory Board, the Parent Company does not recognise any 
income generated from non-Islamic sources. Accordingly, all non-Islamic income is distributed to charity.  
 
The Parent Company’s registered head office is at Dar Al-Awadi Tower, Sharq, Kuwait City, P.O. Box 28808 Safat, 
13149 Safat, Kuwait.  
 
The major shareholders of the Parent Company have announced their intention to pursue a merger of the Parent 
Company with First Investment Company K.S.C. (Closed). Negotiations and detailed studies are in progress at this 
stage. 
 
 
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment 
properties, financial assets at fair value through income statement and certain financial assets available for sale 
that have been measured at fair value. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) which is the functional currency of 
the Parent Company. 
 
Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the 
State of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait.  These regulations 
require adoption of all International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standard Board (IASB) except for the IAS 39 requirement for collective provision, which has been 
replaced by the Central Bank of Kuwait’s requirement for a minimum general provision as described under the 
accounting policy for impairment of financial assets. 
 
The accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those 
used in previous years, except for the newly adopted standards effective for the annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2009. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Revenue recognition (continued) 
 
Placement, arrangement and management fees 
Placement, arrangement and management fees are recognised when earned upon performance of services envisaged 
under the service agreements. 
 
Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.   
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities 
The Group classifies its financial assets as “cash and cash equivalents”, “financial assets at fair value through 
income statement”, “financial assets available for sale”, “wakala receivables” “murabaha receivables” and “other 
assets” whereas the financial liabilities are classified as “murabaha payables” and “other liabilities”. 
 
The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. A ‘regular way’ purchase of financial assets is recognised using the trade date 
accounting. Regular way purchases are purchases of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time 
frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place. Financial liabilities are not recognised 
unless one of the parties has performed or the contract is a derivative contract. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value (transaction price) plus, in case of a 
financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through income statement, directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
Financial assets 
Financial assets include the following items: 
 
 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as bank balances, cash in hand and short-term murabaha. Murabaha 
investments are financial assets originated by the Group and represent deals with high credit quality local and 
international banks and financial institutions with a residual maturity of upto three months from the contract 
date. These are stated at amortised cost and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank balances, cash and 
murabaha investments as defined above. 

 
 Financial assets at fair value through income statement 

A financial asset at fair value through income statement includes financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through income statement. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Gains or losses on 
financial assets held for trading are recognised in consolidated income statement. Financial assets are 
designated at fair value through income statement if they are managed and their performance is evaluated on 
reliable fair value basis in accordance with documented investment strategy. Interest earned or incurred is 
accrued in interest income or finance cost, respectively, according to the terms of the contract, while dividend 
income is recorded in ‘Dividend income’ when the right to the payment has been established. 

 
After initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through income statement are re-measured at fair value 
with all changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

2.2    Change in accounting policy and disclosures (continued) 

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments: Classification and measurement: (applicable for reporting periods beginning on or 
after 01 January 2013): 
This new standard will have implications for the measurement, classification and disclosure requirements of the 
Group’s investment securities. 
 
IAS 24 (Revised 2009) Related Party Disclosures: (applicable retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2011): 
The revised standard was issued in November 2009 and becomes effective for annual period beginning on or after 
1 January 2011. The revised standard simplifies the definition for a related party. 
 
The application of these standards will be made in the consolidated financial statements when these standards 
become effective. The Parent Company’s management is yet to assess the impact of the application of these 
standards on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
2.3  Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2009. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for 
the same reporting year as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting policies.  The consolidated financial 
statements include the following subsidiaries:  
 
 

Effective equity interest as at  
31 DecemberName of company 

Country of 
incorporation 

2009 2008 

Principal 
 activities

   
Makamin Holding Company K.S.C. Kuwait 100%           100% Holding company 
Marasy Holding Company K.S.C. Kuwait           100%           100% Holding company 
Tamaluk Holding Company K.S.C. 
 

Kuwait           100%           100% Holding company 

 
Subsidiaries are those enterprises controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control effectively commences until the date that control effectively ceases.  
 
Significant inter-company balances and transactions, including intercompany profits and unrealised profits and 
losses are eliminated on consolidation. Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting 
policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.   
 
The subsidiaries have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase method of 
accounting involves allocating the cost of the business combination to the fair value of the assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 
 
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received. The 
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 
Murabaha and wakala income 
Murabaha and wakala income is recognised on a time proportion basis so as to yield a constant periodic rate of 
return based on the net balance outstanding. 
 

Financial  Results
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities  

Financial assets  
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of an entity of similar financial assets) is 
derecognised when:  
 
 the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;  
 the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full 

without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or  
 the Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either:  

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or  
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 

control of the asset. 
 
When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the 
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the 
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay. 
 
Financial liabilities  
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.  
 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
An assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine, in case of financial asset, 
whether there is objective evidence that a specific financial asset may be impaired and, in case of other assets, 
whether there is an indication that a specific asset may be impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets are impaired if, and only if, there is an objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events 
that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that loss event has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. If such evidence 
or indication exists, any impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. 
 
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they 
will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults.  If such evidence exists, an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
 
Impairment is determined as follows: 
 
a) for assets at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value, less any impairment loss 

previously recognised in the income statement; 
b) for assets at cost, impairment is the difference between carrying value and the present value of future cash 

flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset; 
c) for assets at amortised cost, impairment is the difference between carrying amount and the present value of 

future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 
 Financial assets available for sale 

Financial assets available for sale are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for 
sale or are not classified as financial assets carried at fair value through income statement, held to maturity 
investments or loans and receivables. 
 
After initial recognition financial assets available for sale are measured at fair value with gains and losses 
being recognised in the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income until the investment is 
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain and loss 
previously reported in equity is included in the consolidated income statement. Financial assets whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment losses, if any. 
 

 Wakala receivables 
Wakala receivables are financial assets originated by the Group. These are stated at amortised cost including 
provision for impairment, if any. 
 
Wakala is an agreement whereby the Group provides a sum of money to a customer under an agency 
arrangement, who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a fee.  The agent is obliged to return the 
amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any terms and conditions of the wakala. 
 
Wakala receivables comprise amounts invested with financial institutions for the onward deals by these 
institutions in various Islamic investment products. 
 

 Murabaha investments 
Murabaha is an Islamic transaction involving the purchase and immediate sale of an asset at cost plus an 
agreed profit. The amount due is settled on a deferred payment basis. Where the risk of the transaction is 
attributable to a bank, the amount due is classified as a murabaha investment. Where the credit risk is 
attributable to a party other than a bank, the amount due is classified as a murabaha receivable. Third party 
expenses such as legal fees, incurred in granting a murabaha are treated as part of the cost of the transaction. 
 

 Other assets 
Other assets are stated at cost, less impairment if any. 

 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities include the following items: 
 
 Murabaha payables 

Murabaha payables represent the amount payable on a deferred settlement basis for assets purchased under 
murabaha agreements. Murabaha payables are stated at gross amount of payable, net of deferred profit payable. 
Profit payable is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking account of the profit rate attributable and the 
balance outstanding. 

 
 Other liabilities 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in future for goods or services received, whether billed by 
the supplier or not. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Investment properties  
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the statement of 
financial position date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are 
included in the consolidated income statement in the year in which they arise. 
 
Treasury shares 
Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Parent 
Company and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method.  Under 
this method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in the equity.  
When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in shareholders’ equity, “treasury 
shares reserve”, which is not distributable.  Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of 
the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary 
reserve and statutory reserve. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset any 
previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the treasury shares reserve account.  No 
cash dividends are paid on these shares.  The issue of bonus shares increases the number of treasury shares 
proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.  Part of 
the reserves created or appropriated and retained earnings equivalent to the cost of treasury shares is not available 
for distribution throughout the holding period. 
 
Share based payment transactions  
Entitled employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby entitled employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-
settled transactions”). 
 
Equity-settled transactions 
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured under the intrinsic value method. Under this 
method, the cost is determined by comparing the fair value of the granted shares at each reporting date and the 
date of final settlement to the exercise price with any change in intrinsic value recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.  
 
The cost of equity settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees 
exercise their rights. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date 
until the exercise date reflects the extent to which the exercise period has expired and the number of awards that, 
in the opinion of the Board of Directors at that date, based on the best available estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest. 
 
Foreign currencies 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti dinars, which is the Group’s functional and 
presentation currency.  Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the 
rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date.  All 
differences are taken to consolidated income statement. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.   
 
Fiduciary assets 
Assets held in trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets or liabilities of the Group and accordingly are not 
included in these consolidated financial statements. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
For non equity financial assets the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If, in a subsequent year, 
the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 
allowance account. For available for sale equity financial assets, the asset is written down and subsequent 
increases are reflected in consolidated statement of other comprehensive income.   
  
In addition, a provision is made to cover impairment for specific groups of assets where there is a measurable 
decrease in estimated future cash flows. 
 
Reversal of impairment losses is recorded when there is an indication that the impairment losses recognised for 
the asset no longer exists or has decreased. The reversal of impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement except for available for sale equity financial assets which are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of other comprehensive income. 
 
Financial assets are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the financial assets and settle the financial liabilities 
simultaneously. 
 
Trading properties 
Trading properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on an individual basis.  Realised gains and 
losses and change in carrying value are taken to the consolidated income statement. 
 
Investment in associates 
The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. An associate 
is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. 
 
Under the equity method, investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the 
post-acquisition change in the Group’s share of net assets of the investee. The Group recognises in the 
consolidated income statement its share of the total recognised profit or loss of the associate from the date that 
influence or ownership effectively commenced until the date that it effectively ceases. Distributions received 
from an associate reduce the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be 
necessary for changes in the Group’s share in the associate arising from changes in the associate’s equity that 
have not been recognised in the associate’s income statement. The Group’s share of those changes is recognised 
in other comprehensive income. 
 
An assessment of investment in an associate is performed when there is an indication that the asset has been 
impaired, or that impairment losses recognised in prior years no longer exist. Whenever impairment requirements 
of IAS 36, indicate that investment in an associate may be impaired, the entire carrying amount of investment is 
tested by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying value. Goodwill is included in the carrying amount 
of an investment in associate and, therefore, is not separately tested for impairment. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions with an associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s share in the 
associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment in the 
asset transferred.  
 
The reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and in case of different reporting date of an 
associate, which are not more than three months, from that of the Group, adjustments are made for the effects of 
significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. The associates’ accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and 
events in similar circumstances. 

Financial  Results



40 41

Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
31 December 2009 
 

 
18 

 
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.5 Significant accounting judgments, estimations and assumptions 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. However, uncertainty 
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future. The Group has used judgments and estimates 
principally in, but not limited to the classification of investments, the determination of impairment provisions, 
valuation of unquoted investments and valuation of investment properties. 
 
Classification of financial assets and liabilities 
Management decides on acquisition of financial assets whether they should be classified as financial assets 
carried at fair value through income statement or available for sale investments. The Group classifies financial 
assets as carried at fair value through income statement if they are acquired primarily for the purpose of short 
term profit making. 
 
Classification of investments as fair value through income statement depends on how management monitor the 
performance of these investments. When they are not classified as held for trading but have readily available fair 
values and the changes in fair values are reported as part of profit or loss in the management accounts, they are 
classified as fair value through income statement. All other investments are classified as available for sale. 
 
Classification of real estate  
Management decides on acquisition of a real estate property whether it should be classified as trading or 
investment property. The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the 
ordinary course of business. The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate 
rental income or for capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use. 
 
Impairment of investments 
The Group treats available for sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists.  The determination 
of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment. 
 
Impairment of receivables 
An estimate of the collectible amount of receivables is made when collection of the full amount is no longer 
probable.  For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis.  Amounts 
which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision applied 
according to the length of time past due, based on historical recovery rates. 
 
Valuation of investment properties 
The Group estimates the fair value of investments properties using considerable judgment and assumptions 
required to reflect the market conditions at the statement of financial position date. 
 
Valuation of unquoted investments 
Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on one of the following: 
 

 Recent arm’s length market transactions; 
 Current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; 
 Earnings multiples; 
 The expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk 

characteristics; 
 Underlying net asset base of the investment; or 
 Other valuation models 

 
The determination of the cash flows, earnings multiples and discount factors for unquoted equity investments 
requires significant estimation.   
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed as part of notes unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is remote. 
 
Fair values 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  Consequently differences can arise between carrying values and the 
fair value estimates. 
 
Underlying the definitions of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention or 
requirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms. 
 
Investment securities  
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the statement of financial position date. For investments 
where there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include 
using arm’s length market transactions; reference to the market value of another instrument, which is 
substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis; brokers’ quotes; option pricing models or other valuation 
models. 
 
Securities with no reliable measures of their fair values and for which no fair value information could be obtained 
are carried at their initial cost less impairment in value. 

Investment properties 
Investment properties are stated at fair value, which are determined based on valuations performed by an accredited 
independent valuer.  
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a past 
event and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured. 
 
National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 
The Group calculates the NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions 
No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the period. As per law, income from associates and subsidiaries, cash 
dividends from listed companies which are subjected to NLST have been deducted from the profit for the year.  
 

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) 
The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% in accordance with the modified calculation based on the 
Foundation’s Board of Directors resolution, which states that the income from associates and subsidiaries, Board 
of Directors’ remuneration, transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when 
determining the contribution.  
 
Zakat 
Zakat is calculated at 2.577% on the opening reserves and retained earnings of the Group which have remained 
for one complete fiscal year and is paid under the direction of the Group’s Al-Fatwa and Sharee’a Supervisory 
Board. Zakat is charged to voluntary reserve. 
 
In addition to Zakat required by Islamic Sharee’a as mentioned above, the Group calculates Zakat in accordance 
with the requirements of Law No. 46 of 2006.  The Zakat charge calculated in accordance with these 
requirements is charged to the consolidated income statement. 
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5 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH INCOME STATEMENT 
 

2009 2008 
KD    KD   

Held for trading:    
Quoted securities 38,899 24,438 
Designated at fair value through income statement:   
Quoted securities 1,354,735 2,789,532 
Unquoted securities 9,415,595 11,510,375 
Unquoted funds managed by external fund managers 947,847 2,164,135 

───────── ─────────
 11,757,076 16,488,480 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
Fair values of certain unquoted securities are determined using valuation techniques that are not based on observable 
market prices or rates for which an unrealised loss of KD 2,100,903 (2008: loss of KD 1,942,475) was recognised 
during the year. 
 
Unrealised loss is analysed as follows: 

 
 
6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE  

 ═════════ ═════════ 
  ` 

Investments carried at fair value 14,459,669  844,680 
Investments carried at cost less impairment 10,434,230 33,174,846  
 ───────── ───────── 
 24,893,899 34,019,526 
 ═════════ ═════════ 

Certain unquoted equity investments and unquoted managed funds amounting to KD 10,434,230 (2008: 
KD 33,174,846) are carried at cost, less impairment, due to the unpredictable nature of their future cash flows and 
lack of other suitable methods for arriving at a reliable fair value of these investments. There is no active market 
for these financial assets and the Group intends to hold them for the long term. Management has performed a 
review of its unquoted equity investments and unquoted managed funds to assess whether impairment has 
occurred in the value of these investments and recorded an impairment loss of KD 6,832,540 (2008: KD Nil) in 
the consolidated income statement. Based on the latest available financial information, management is of the 
view that no further impairment provision is required as at 31 December 2009 in respect of these investments. 
 
 

 2009 2008
KD    KD   

Held for trading   
- Quoted securities (7,288) (14,729)

  
Designated at fair value through income statement:   
- Quoted securities (1,316,987) (1,046,605)
- Unquoted securities (2,100,903) (1,942,475)
- Unquoted funds managed by external fund managers (123,095) (181,310)
 ───────── ───────── 
 (3,548,273) (3,185,119)
 ═════════ ═════════ 

 2009 2008
 KD    KD   
   
Quoted equity investments -    844,680 
Unquoted equity investments 9,263,175 10,292,118 
Unquoted funds managed by external fund managers 4,432,356 1,569,976 
Unquoted funds managed by the Parent Company 11,198,368 21,312,752 
 ───────── ───────── 
 24,893,899 34,019,526 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
2.5 Significant accounting judgments, estimations and assumptions (continued) 
 
Impairment of non financial assets 
An asset is impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of 
an asset is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use.  Net selling price is the amount obtainable 
from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction. Value in use is the present value of estimated future cash 
flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. An 
assessment is made at each statement of financial position date to determine whether there is objective evidence 
that an asset may be impaired. If such evidence exists, any impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.  
 
3 BASIC AND DILUTED (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
Basic (loss) earnings per share is computed by dividing the (loss) profit for the year by the weighted average 
number of shares of the Parent Company, less treasury shares, outstanding during the year. 
 
Diluted (loss) earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss) profit for the year by the weighted average 
number of shares of the Parent Company outstanding during the year (adjusted for the effects of dilutive share 
options). 
 
The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share 
computations: 
 
 

    2009     2008 
KD       KD  

    

(Loss) profit for the year  (20,531,460) 1,820,906 
  ────────── ────────── 

   Shares Shares 
Weighted average number of shares for basic (loss) 
  earnings per share (excluding treasury shares)  421,655,945 421,640,971
    
Dilutive effect of  share options  -      499,142 
  ────────── ────────── 
Weighted average number of shares for diluted (loss) earnings 
  per share  421,655,945 422,140,113 
 
 

 ────────── ────────── 

        Fils     Fils 
Basic (loss) earnings per share  (48.69)      4.32 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
Diluted (loss) earnings per share  (48.69) 4.31  
  ══════════ ══════════ 
 
During the current year, the effect of outstanding share options has not been considered in the computation of 
diluted loss per share as the result is anti-dilutive. 
 
4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows include the following amounts:  
 

2009     2008    
KD      KD     

   
Bank balances and short-term deposits 7,983,521 3,479,748 
Less: balances in restricted bank accounts (542,013) (1,878,821)

───────── ─────────
 7,441,508 1,600,927 
 ═════════ ═════════ 

Financial  Results



42 43

Gulf Investment House K.S.C. (Closed) and Subsidiaries 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
31 December 2009 
 

 
22 

 
 
8 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES 
 
 

Name of company 
Country of 
registration 

Percentage of  
          ownership                         Carrying value                  

2009 2008   2009 2008 
    KD    KD   
Quoted associates:     

Innovest B.S.C. (Closed)  Bahrain 13.57% 13.57% 12,414,261 13,125,429
      
Arkan Al-Kuwait Real Estate Company 
  K.S.C. (Closed) 

 
Kuwait 

 
22.57%

 
22.57% 7,175,002  7,544,836 

Amar Finance and Leasing Company 
  K.S.C. (Closed)* 

 
Kuwait 13.82 % - 2,999,546 -      

    ─────── ─────── 
    22,588,809 20,670,265 

    ─────── ─────── 
      
Unquoted associates: 
 

 
    

Amar Finance and Leasing Company 
  K.S.C. (Closed)* 

 
Kuwait - 13.82 % -              3,626,974 

      
Afkar Holding Company K.S.C. Kuwait 27.40 % 27.40 % 4,346,313 4,485,582 
            
 
Gulf Real Estate Co. S.S.C. (Closed) 

Saudi 
Arabia 11.84% 11.84%

 
4,150,329 

      
4,114,155 

      
Mada’in Real Estate Company UAE 11.20% 11.20% 5,358,098 5,596,370 
      
Navimar Marine Projects Company 
  (B.S.C.) 

 
Bahrain 22.30% 22.30% 2,610,277 2,623,290 

      
Majan Development Company Joint 
  Stock (Closed) 

 
Oman 20.41% 20.41% 3,513,092 3,577,409 

      
Sama Educational Company K.S.C. 
  (Closed) 

 
Kuwait 20.00% 20.00% 3,417,000 3,060,000 

    ─────── ─────── 
   23,395,109 27,083,780 
   ─────── ─────── 
 45,983,918 47,754,045 

  ═══════ ═══════ 
      
      
      
 
* Amar Finance and Leasing Company K.S.C. (Closed) was listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange during the year. 
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7 WAKALA RECEIVABLES 
 

2009 2008
KD    KD   

    
Gross amount 6,904,667 6,679,009 
Less: deferred income (26,474) (33,225)

─────── ─────────
 6,878,193 6,645,784 
Less: provision for impairment (2,599,312) (827,165)

─────── ─────────
 4,278,881 5,818,619 
 ═══════ ═════════ 
 
Average profit rate attributable to wakala receivables during the year was 5.3% (2008: 7.1%) per annum. 
 
Movement in provision for impairment on wakala receivables is as follows: 
 
  2009 2008 
  KD    KD   
  
At 1 January  827,165 239,584 
Charge for the year  1,772,147 1,051,417 
Provision reversed  -      (463,836) 
  ────────── ────────── 
At 31 December  2,599,312 827,165 
  ══════════ ══════════ 
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8 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 
 
The movement in the carrying amount of investment in associates during the year is as follows: 
 

 2009 2008 
 KD    KD   

As at 1 January 47,754,045 36,912,686 
Additions -      11,048,271 
Disposals -      (3,994,398) 
Share of results (605,117) 5,434,931 
Dividends received (1,165,010) (1,647,445) 

─────── ───────
As at 31 December 45,983,918 47,754,045

═══════ ═══════
 

 2009 2008 
 KD    KD   

Share of associates’ statement of financial position: 
  Current assets 15,217,774 22,869,601 
  Non-current assets 40,030,170    41,691,863  
  Current liabilities (13,718,270)     (8,035,512) 
  Non-current liabilities (2,775,407)   (12,464,930) 
 ───────── ────────

38,754,267 44,061,022 
═════════ ═════════ 

 
Share of associates’ revenue and (loss) profit   
  Revenue 3,610,263 8,034,187 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
  (Loss) profit (605,117) 5,434,931 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
 
Classification of associates where the Group holds less than 20 per cent of the voting power of the investee is 
based on the existence of significant influence exercised by the Group. This is evidenced by the Group’s 
representation on the board of directors and participation in policy and decision making process of the investee 
with sufficient degree for the Group to demonstrate that it has significant influence over the respective associates. 
  
Investment in associates include quoted associates with a carrying value of KD 22,588,809 (2008: 
KD 20,670,265) having a fair value of KD 11,151,386 (2008: KD 13,283,367). In accordance with IAS 36 
“Impairment of assets”, the Group has assessed the carrying values of these associates and concluded that the 
recoverable amounts (higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use) of these associates exceed their 
carrying values. Accordingly, no impairment was recognised in respect of these quoted associates in the 
consolidated income statement.  
 
Furthermore, the management has assessed the carrying values of the unquoted associates. As at 31 December 
2009, there are no indications that the carrying value of these unquoted associates is impaired. Therefore, no 
impairment is required to be recognised in respect of these unquoted associates in the consolidated income 
statement.  
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9 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES  

2009 2008 
KD    KD      

As at 1 January  10,530,298 9,919,182 
Additions -      700,000 
Disposals (3,590,758) 254,814 
Unrealised loss from fair value adjustment (408,068)           (343,698)

───────── ─────────
As at 31 December 6,531,472 10,530,298 
  ═════════ ═════════ 
 
Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuations performed by 
accredited independent valuers, as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 for the current and previous years 
respectively.  
 
Included in investment properties are real estate portfolios amounting to KD 4,892,724 (2008: KD 5,324,889) that 
are managed by the portfolio managers. The fair values of these real estate portfolios are provided by the portfolio 
managers. It is the responsibility of the portfolio managers to appoint independent valuers in respect of valuation of 
these real estate portfolios. Based on the contract with the portfolio managers, the Parent Company does not have 
the right to select an independent valuer in respect of these real estate portfolios.  
 
 
10 OTHER ASSETS  

2009    2008   
KD      KD        

Due from related parties (Note 17) -      30,396 
Accrued income 20,259 979,233 
Advance payments and other receivables 1,949,044 667,779 

───────── ─────────
 1,969,303 1,677,408 
Less: provision for impairment (433,018) (1,217)

───────── ─────────
 1,536,285 1,676,191 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
11 SHARE CAPITAL 
 
At 31 December 2009, issued and fully paid up capital of the Parent Company amounted to 442,191,140 shares             
(2008: 442,191,140 shares) of 100 fils each. 
 
 
12 RESERVES 
 
a) Statutory reserve 
As required by the Law of Commercial Companies and the Parent Company's Articles of Association, 10% of the 
profit for the year, before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat, and directors’ remuneration, should be transferred to 
statutory reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve equals 
50% of the paid-up share capital. No transfer has been made to statutory reserve since losses have been incurred for 
the year ended 31 December 2009. 
 
Distribution of the reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of paid-up 
share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount. 
 
b) Voluntary reserve 
In accordance with article 50 of the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of profit for the year, before 
contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration, should be appropriated to the voluntary reserve.  
The ordinary general meeting may upon an approval by the board of directors increase the percentage as it deems 
appropriate, and may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers, if proposed by the board of directors. No transfer 
has been made to voluntary reserve since losses have been incurred for the year ended 31 December 2009.  

Financial  Results
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17 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
These represent transactions with certain parties (major shareholders, directors and executive officers of the Group 
and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. The Group’s management 
approves pricing policies and terms of these transactions. Significant transactions with Group’s related parties 
included are as follows: 
 
Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated income statement are as follows: 

Associates 
Major 

shareholders

Other 
related 
parties 

     Total   
     2009 

Total   
2008

          KD           KD           KD           KD           KD  
      
Murabaha and wakala income 8,125 3,535 -      11,660 16,553 
Placement, arrangement and   
  management fees 

 
-      

 
-      

 
-      

 
-      

 
1,404 

Murabaha charges -      1,311,031 -      1,311,031 747,833 
Unrealised (loss) gain from revaluation 
  of investment properties 

 
(293,547)

 
-      

 
-      

 
(293,547) 

 
211,122 

 
Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 

Associates 
Major

shareholders 

   Other      
related 
parties

Total   
2009 

Total   
2008

          KD           KD           KD  KD          KD  
 

Cash and cash equivalents -      7,968,343 -      7,968,343 60,368 
Wakala receivables -      -     -      -      197,010 
Amounts due from associates -      -     -      -      30,396 
Murabaha payables -      23,154,444 -      23,154,444 14,686,312 
Amounts due to associates -      -     -      -      13,797 
Staff loans receivables -      -     12,378 12,378 17,863 

 
Key management compensation:
           2009             2008    
         KD          KD  
 
Salaries and other short term benefits 202,045 221,322 
Terminal benefits 27,704 29,847 
Cost of share based payment -      412,340 
 ───────── ─────────
 229,749 663,509 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Parent Company paid KD 98,000 to a former key management 
personnel of the Parent Company as compensation for loss of office. This amount is included in administrative 
expenses. 
 
Outstanding balances at the year end are unsecured and are interest free. There have been no guarantees provided or 
received for any related party receivables or payables. For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group has not 
recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts due from the related parties (2008: KD nil). This 
assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position of the related party and the 
market in which the related party operates. 
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12 RESERVES (continued) 
 
b) Voluntary reserve (continued) 
In November 2008, Central Bank Kuwait allowed all investment companies to release the general provision in 
excess of 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% on non cash facilities and the released amount to be recognised as 
income in the consolidated income statement and the corresponding amount to be transferred to voluntary reserve 
which is not available for distribution.  
 
As of 31 December 2008, excess general provision of KD 113,500 was reversed in the consolidated income 
statement and the corresponding amount was transferred to the voluntary reserve (Refer to Consolidated 
statement of changes in equity). 
 
 
13 TREASURY SHARES  

2009 2008    
   
Number of treasury shares 20,535,195        20,535,195 
Percentage of issued shares 4.64%   4.64%  
Market value (KD) 2,301,653 3,737,405  
 

Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held are not available for distribution. 
 
 
14 MURABAHA PAYABLES 

2009     2008   
KD       KD      

   
Gross amount  61,323,529 55,092,027 
Less: deferred cost  (1,206,427)  (764,765) 

─────── ─────── 60,117,102 54,327,262 
 ═══════ ═══════ 
 

The average effective cost rate attributable to murabaha payables is 7.06% (2008: 6%) per annum. 
 
 
15 OTHER LIABILITIES 

2009   2008   
KD     KD    

   
Dividend payable 542,013 1,878,821
Employees’ end of service benefits 268,277 374,403
Due to a related party (Note 17) -      13,797
KFAS payable -      3,773
NLST payable -      12,355
Zakat payable 780,474 4,356
Other payables and accrued expenses 424,264 1,327,997

───────── ─────────
 2,015,028 3,615,502
 ═════════ ═════════
 

 
16 DIVIDENDS AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION  
 
During the board meeting held on 31 March 2010, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company has recommended 
no cash dividends or bonus shares for the year ended 31 December 2009. This proposal is subject to the approval by 
the Shareholders’ annual general meeting. 
 
Directors’ remuneration of KD 14,000 was accrued in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008. However, 
following the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 6 May 2009, the shareholders approved an amount of 
KD 7,000. 
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19 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 

 
Islamic       

financing Investment Real estate Unallocated Total 
 KD KD KD KD KD 
      
Year ended 31 December 2008      
      
Segment income        932,780      8,059,583      (194,872) 112,685       8,910,176 
 ════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
Segment loss (1,902,245) 6,372,810      (194,872) (2,407,422) 1,868,271 
 ════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
      
Total assets 5,818,619 103,417,990 11,815,298 432,098 121,484,005 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════
Total liabilities -       -       -       57,942,764 57,942,764 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════
Other disclosures      
Investment in associates -       47,754,045 -       -       47,754,045 
Share of results of associates -       5,434,931 -       -       5,434,931 
Provision for credit losses 587,581 15,824 -       -       603,405 
 
Geographic information 

2009   2008   
KD     KD    

Total income from external sources  
Kuwait 

 
(3,496,315) 

 
1,081,088 

Gulf and rest of Middle East (1,291,269) 5,655,205 
International 565,484 2,173,883 

───────── ─────────
 (4,222,100) 8,910,176 
 ═════════ ═════════ 
 
The income information above is based on the location of the customer. 
 

2009     2008     
KD       KD      

Non-current assets 
Kuwait 

 
37,750,503 

 
42,967,723 

Gulf and rest of Middle East 12,414,261 13,125,429 
International 2,610,277 2,623,289 

────────── ──────────
 52,775,041  58,716,441
 ══════════ ══════════
 
Non-current assets for this purpose consist of investment properties, investment in associates and furniture and 
equipment.  
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18 EMPLOYEES’ SHARE PURCHASE SCHEME 
 
The Parent Company operates an employee share purchase scheme.  Under this scheme, which has duration of 10 
years from start date, the Parent Company may issue shares for cash to eligible employees by increasing its share 
capital.  The total capital increase during the 10 year period to meet the requirement of the scheme should not 
exceed 10% of the share capital at the end of 2008. 
 
Share options totalling 1,150,000 shares outstanding at 31 December 2009 (2008: 1,150,000 shares) had a weighted 
average exercise price of KD 0.143 (2008: KD 0.143) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of one year 
(2008: one year). The exercise price of these share options is higher than the market price of shares as at 31 
December 2009. 
 
The average fair value of share options granted during the year is KD 0.113 (2008: KD 0.253) for which an expense 
of KD Nil (2008: KD 326,340) was recognised in the consolidated income statement. During the year, no share 
options were granted or exercised under the share option scheme. 
 
 
19 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION  
 
For management purposes, the Group is organised into three main business segments based on internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision maker: 
 
Islamic financing  :  Providing a range of Islamic products to corporate customers;  
 
Investment : Managing direct investments and investments in subsidiaries and associates; and 
 
Real estate : Managing trading and investment properties 
 
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. 
 
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating 
profit or loss and is measured consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  
 

 Islamic       
financing Investment Real estate Unallocated Total 

 KD KD KD KD KD 
      
Year ended 31 December 2009      
      
Segment income        269,790    (3,569,235)   (1,054,107) 131,452  (4,222,100)
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════
Segment loss (5,095,891) (12,782,431) (1,054,107) (1,599,031) (20,531,460)
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════
     
Total assets 4,278,881 92,154,699 7,396,472 259,651 104,089,703
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════
Total liabilities -       -       -       62,132,130 62,132,130
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════
Other disclosures     
Investment in associates -       45,983,918 -       -       45,983,918
Share of results of associates -       605,117 -       -       605,117
Provision for credit losses 1,772,147 431,801 -       -       2,203,948
Impairment on financial assets 
  available for sale 

 
-       

 
6,832,540 

 
-       

 
-       6,832,540

 
Inter-segmental elimination represents the elimination of balances and transactions arising in the normal course 
of business between the different segments of the Group. 
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21 CREDIT RISK 
 
Credit Risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties failed to 
discharge their contractual obligations. The Group manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount 
of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations, and by 
monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. 
 
The Group has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the 
creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions. Counterparty limits are established by the 
use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk rating. Risk ratings are subject to 
regular revision. The credit quality review process allows the Group to assess the potential loss as a result of the 
risks to which it is exposed and take corrective action. 
 
Gross maximum exposure to credit risk 
 
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of 
financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use of 
master netting and collateral agreements (if any). 

 

Gross
maximum 
exposure

2009        
KD

Gross     
maximum 
exposure
2008        
KD

    
Bank balances and short-term deposits  7,983,521 3,479,748 
Wakala receivables  4,278,881 5,818,619 
Other assets  1,536,285 1,676,191 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total credit risk exposure  13,798,687 10,974,558 
  ════════ ════════ 
Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk 
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.   
 
Collateral 
The Group did not hold collateral of any sort at 31 December 2009 and 2008. 
 
Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk 
The Group’s financial assets, before taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements, can be 
analysed by the following geographical regions and industrial sectors: 
 

 Banking and 
financial 
services Trading 

Construction 
and real estate Others Total 

2009 KD KD KD KD KD 
  
Kuwait 10,925,870 -         -         548,429 11,474,299 
Others 952,507   1,336,532   35,349 -          2,324,388 
 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 
 11,878,377 1,336,532   35,349 548,429 13,798,687 
 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 
 

 Banking and 
financial 
services Trading 

Construction 
and real estate Others Total 

2008 KD KD KD KD KD 
  
Kuwait 7,850,371 -      -      610,494 8,460,865 
Others 1,065,697 1,447,996 -      -      2,513,693 
 ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 
 8,916,068 1,447,996 -      610,494 10,974,558 
 ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ ══════ 
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20 RISK MANAGEMENT  
  
Risk is an inherent part of the Group’s business activities. It is managed through a process of ongoing identification, 
assessment, measurement and monitoring of the business activities, subject to risk limits and other controls. This 
process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is 
accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity 
risk and market risk. Market risk is subdivided into profit rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. The 
Group is also subject to operating risks. The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as 
changes in the environment technology and industry. They are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning 
process. 
 
Risk management structure 
 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the 
risk strategies and principles. 
 
Board of Directors 
 
The Board of Directors provides risk oversight and has the overall responsibility for determining the strategic 
direction of the organisation and for creating the environment and the framework for risk management to operate 
effectively. 
 
Asset liability Committee 
 
The Asset Liability Committee (the “ALCO”) has been established to assist the members of Board of Directors in 
fulfilling their responsibilities with regard to asset and liability management and liquidity adequacy. Its objectives 
are to: 
 Propose asset and liability management policies that are compatible with the Group’s risk philosophy and 

risk preferences; 
 Determine the strategy for the Group in terms of mix of assets and liabilities given its expectations of future 

events; 
 Regularly monitor and assess the financing cost risk to earnings and capital under different financing cost 

environments;  
 Manage liquidity to ensure obligations are met on an ongoing basis; 
 Support the maintenance of the Group’s desired risk preferences and statement of financial position profile;  
 Create and build a group-wide resource base for asset and liability management. 
 
Investment Committee 
 
The Investment Committee is responsible of reviewing and recommending strategies, policies and limits for the 
management of equity investment risk and market risk.  
 
For the equity investment risk, the committee reviews and recommends limits, or changes to established limits, 
related to investment activity, monitoring of exposures against limits and approval of excess above those limits. 
 
For the market risk, the committee reviews and recommends limits, or changes to established limits, related to 
investment activity in terms of equity trading. 
 
Credit committee 
 
The Credit Committee is responsible for credit risk management. The committee ensures adequate risk capital 
against credit exposures, identifies external factors that may have an impact on equity and determines appropriate 
strategies. 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The risk management responsibility for the Audit Committee is mainly towards Operational Risk. The committee 
identifies and presents operational risks in the course of regular internal audits with recommendations for corrective 
actions. It also focuses the internal audit work on significant risks and auditing the risk management processes 
across the Group. 
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22 LIQUIDITY RISK (continued) 
 
 

   Within  3 to 6 6 to 12  1 to 3   Undated/      
 3 months months months  Years Over 3 years   Total 

 KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD 
ASSETS       
Bank balances and 
  short-term deposits 7,983,521      -      -      -      - 7,983,521 
Financial assets at fair  
  value through income 
  statement      -      - 11,757,076      -      - 11,757,076 
Trading properties          865,000      -      -      -      - 865,000 
Financial assets 
  available for sale      -      -      - 24,893,899      - 24,893,899 
Wakala receivables 4,278,881      -      -      -      - 4,278,881 
Investment in associates       -      -      -      - 45,983,918 45,983,918 
Investment properties      -       -      -   6,531,472      - 6,531,472 
Other assets       1,536,285      -      -      -      - 1,536,285 
Furniture and equipment      -      -      -      -      259,651 259,651 

 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 
 14,663,687      - 11,757,076 31,425,371 46,243,569 104,089,703 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
LIABILITIES      
Murabaha payables 19,570,087 29,080,414 11,466,601      -           - 60,117,102 
Other liabilities       1,746,751      -           -          268,277      - 2,015,028 
  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

21,316,838 29,080,414 11,466,601     268,277      - 62,132,130 
  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 
Net liquidity gap (6,653,151) (29,080,414)      290,475 31,157,094 46,243,569  41,957,573 

 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 
As disclosed in the table above, the Group’s current liabilities (due within one year) exceeded its current assets by 
KD 35,443,090 (2008: 27,754,036). 
 
The Group is dependent on availability of the continued support from the financial institutions (i.e. rescheduling 
of the short term murabaha payables to medium/long credit facilities) (note 14) and the shareholders. The 
management is in the advanced stages of negotiating the terms of the settlement of the short term murabaha 
payables amounting to KD 19,570,087 with the financial institutions whereby these short term murabaha 
payables will be converted into medium and long term credit facilities.  The management is confident that they 
will be able to renegotiate the terms of these short term murabaha payables as contemplated at this stage.   
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21 CREDIT RISK (continued) 
 
Credit quality per class of financial assets 
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The table below shows 
the credit quality by class of asset for related consolidated statement of financial position lines, based on the Group’s 
internal credit rating system. 
 
 Neither past due nor impaired   
 

High grade 
Standard 

Grade    Impaired Total 
2009 KD  KD  KD  KD  
     
Bank balances and short-term deposits      7,983,521             -                  -           7,983,521
Wakala receivables  -         4,278,881 -           4,278,881
Other assets      -     1,536,285              -           1,536,285

 ─────── ─────── ─────── ───────
 7,983,521       5,815,166 -       13,798,687 
 ═══════ ═══════ ═══════ ═══════

 
 

 Neither past due nor impaired   
 

High grade 
Standard 

Grade    Impaired Total 
2008 KD  KD  KD  KD  
     
Bank balances and short-term deposits 3,479,748 -      -     3,479,748 
Wakala receivables -      4,072,452 1,746,167 5,818,619 
Other assets -      1,676,191 -     1,676,191 

 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 
 3,479,748 5,748,643 1,746,167 10,974,558 
 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

 
22 LIQUIDITY RISK  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements.  Liquidity risk can be 
caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up 
immediately. To guard against this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets are managed with 
liquidity in mind, maintaining a healthy balance of cash, cash equivalents, and readily marketable securities. 

Liquidity risk and funding management 
The Group maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can be easily liquidated in the event 
of an unforeseen interruption of cash flow. The Group also has committed lines of credit that it can access to meet 
liquidity needs.  The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due 
consideration to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the Group. The most 
important of these is to maintain limits on the ratio of net liquid assets to liabilities, set to reflect market 
conditions. Net liquid assets consists of cash, short term bank deposits and liquid debt securities available for 
immediate sale, less deposits for banks and other issued securities and borrowings due to mature within the next 
month. 
 
Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at 
the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date.  The maturity profile is monitored by 
management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.  The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at the 
year end are based on contractual undiscounted repayment arrangement or in the case of investments carried at 
fair value through income statement, available for sale investments and trading properties, on management’s 
estimate of planned exit dates. 
 
The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2009 was as follows: 
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23 MARKET RISK  
 
Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market variables such as 
profit rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual investment or its issuer or factors affecting all investments traded in the market. 
 
Market risk is managed on the basis of pre-determined asset allocations across various asset categories, 
diversification of assets in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration, a continuous appraisal 
of market conditions and trends and management’s estimate of long and short term changes in fair value.  
 
23.1 Profit rate risk 
 
Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future cash flows or the fair 
values of the financial instruments. The Group is not exposed to profit rate risk on its profit bearing assets and 
liabilities (short-term wakala receivables and murabaha payables) as a result of reasonably possible changes in 
profit rates since the Group is not exposed to any floating rate profit bearing assets and liabilities. 
  
23.2 Foreign currency risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. 
 
Foreign currency risk is managed by the treasury department of the Parent Company on the basis of limits 
determined by the Group’s Board of Directors and a continuous assessment of the Group’s open positions and 
current and expected exchange rate movements. Management believes that there is minimal risk of significant losses 
due to exchange rate fluctuations and consequently the Group does not hedge foreign currency exposures. 
 
The effect on (loss) profit before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration (due to change in the fair value of 
monetary assets and liabilities), as a result of change in currency rate, with all other variables held constant is shown 
below: 
 

 2009  2008 

Currency Change in 
currency rate 

in % 

Effect on loss 
before KFAS, 
NLST, Zakat 
and directors’ 
remuneration 

KD

Change in 
currency rate in 

%

Effect on  profit 
before KFAS, 
NLST, Zakat 

and directors’ 
remuneration 

KD 
    

USD +3.5 (862,167)  +3.5 (789,392) 
AED +3.5 (169,475)  +3.5 (195,826) 
 
The effect of decrease in foreign currency exchange rate is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the 
increases shown. 
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22 LIQUIDITY RISK (continued)
 
The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities at 31 December 2008 was as follows: 
 

   Within  3 to 6 6 to 12  1 to 3   Undated/      
 3 months months months  years Over 3 years   Total 

 KD  KD  KD  KD  KD  KD 
ASSETS       
Bank balances and short-term  
  Deposits 

 
3,479,748 

 
-      

 
-      

 
-      

 
-      

 
3,479,748 

Financial assets at fair  
 value through income 
 statement -      -      16,488,480 -      -      16,488,480 
Trading properties 1,285,000 -      -      -      -      1,285,000 
Financial assets available for 
  Sale -      -      -      34,019,526 -      34,019,526 
Wakala receivables 4,526,619 1,292,000 -      -      -      5,818,619 
Investment in associates  -      -      -      -      47,754,045 47,754,045 
Investment properties -      -      -      10,530,298 -      10,530,298 
Other assets 1,676,191 -      -      -      -      1,676,191 
Furniture and equipment -      -      -      -      432,098 432,098 

═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
 10,967,558 1,292,000 16,488,480 44,549,824 48,186,143 121,484,005

 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
LIABILITIES       
Murabaha payables 38,759,262 15,568,000 -      -      -      54,327,262 
Other liabilities 2,174,812 -      -      1,440,690 -      3,615,502 
 ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── 

40,934,074 15,568,000 -      1,440,690 -      57,942,764 
 ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── 
Net liquidity gap (29,966,516) (14,276,000) 16,488,480 43,109,134 48,186,143 63,541,241 

═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted repayment obligations: 
 
 
 
Financial liabilities  

Within 
3 months 

KD

3 to 6 
months 

KD 

6 to 12 
months 

KD

1 to 3 
years
KD 

Over 3 years 
KD

Total 
KD

2009       
Murabaha payables 19,637,061 29,805,041 11,881,427 -       -      61,323,529  
Other liabilities   1,746,751      -          -      268,277   -      2,015,028 
 ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── 
Total financial liabilities  21,383,812 29,805,041 11,881,427 268,277 -      63,338,557 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
  
 
 
Financial liabilities  

Within 
3 months 

KD

3 to 6 
months 

KD 

6 to 12 
months 

KD

1 to 3 
years
KD 

Over 3 years 
KD

Total 
KD

2008       
Murabaha payables 39,011,893 16,080,134 -      -      -      55,092,027
Other liabilities 2,174,812 -     -      1,440,690 -      3,615,502
 ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── ───────── 
Total financial liabilities  41,186,705 16,080,134 -      1,440,690 -      58,707,529 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
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25 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The 
Group's policy is to keep the gearing ratio between 40% to 60% range. The Group includes within net debt, 
Islamic borrowings less bank balances and short-term deposits. Capital includes equity of the Parent Company 
less cumulative changes in fair values. 
 

        2009 
    KD 

       2008 
    KD 

 
Islamic borrowings     60,117,102 54,327,262 
Less: Bank balances and short-term deposits (7,983,521) (3,479,748) 
  ────────  ──────── 
Net debt 52,133,581 50,847,514 
   
Equity of the Parent Company        41,957,573 63,541,241 
Add: cumulative changes in fair values 1,035,306 96,460 
  ────────  ──────── 
Total capital 42,992,879 63,637,701 
  ────────  ──────── 
Capital and net debt 95,126,460 114,485,215 
  ════════  ════════ 
Gearing ratio            55%              44%  
  ════════  ════════ 
 
 
26 FIDUCIARY ASSETS 
 
The Group manages portfolios on behalf of others and maintains cash balances and securities in fiduciary accounts 
which are not reflected in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.  Assets under management at 31 
December 2009 amounted to KD 86,873,268 (2008: KD 88,580,359). The total management fees earned by the 
Parent Company in fiduciary capacity at 31 December 2009 amounted to KD 279,639 (2008: KD 162,619). 
 
27 COMMITMENTS 
 
At 31 December 2009, there is a commitment in respect of financial assets available for sale for uncalled capital 
amounting to KD 4,527,315 (2008: KD 4,663,975). 
 
 
28 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Fair value is the amount at which an asset, liability or financial instrument could be exchanged or settled between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Underlying the definition of fair value is the 
presumption that the Group is a going concern without any intention, or need, to liquidate, curtail materially the 
scale of its operations or undertake a transaction on adverse terms. Financial instruments comprise financial assets 
and financial liabilities. 
 
Financial assets consist of bank balances and cash, investments carried at fair value through income statement, 
available for sale investments and other assets. Financial liabilities consist of murabaha payables and other 
liabilities. 
 
The fair values of financial instruments, with the exception of certain available for sale investments carried at cost 
(see note 6) are not materially different from their carrying values. 
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23 MARKET RISK (continued)  
 
23.3 Equity price risk 
 
Equity price risk arises from changes in the fair values of equity investments. Equity price risk is managed by the 
direct investment department of the Parent Company. The unquoted equity price risk exposure arises from the 
Group’s investment portfolio. The Group manages this through diversification of investments in terms of 
geographical distribution and industry concentration. The majority of the Group’s quoted investments are listed 
on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. 
 
The effect on other comprehensive income (as a result of a change in the fair value of financial assets available 
for sale at 31 December 2009) and Group’s loss (as a result of a change in the fair value of investments at fair 
value through income statement at 31 December 2009) due to a reasonably possible change in market indices, 
with all other variables held constant is as follows:  
 
 2009 2008

Market 
indices 

Change in 
equity 
price 

%

Effect on 
other 

comprehensive 
income 

KD

Effect on loss 
before KFAS, 
NLST, Zakat 

and 
directors’ 

remuneration 
KD

Change in 
equity 
price 

%

Effect on other 
comprehensive 

income  
KD

Effect on 
profit before 
KFAS, NLST, 

Zakat and 
directors’ 

remuneration 
KD

       
Kuwait +5          16,414 321,217  +5 2,777,883 484,038 
 -5  (16,414) (321,217)  -5 768,930 (40,470) 
 -15 (49,242) (963,650)  -15 225,038 (1,330,705) 
GCC +5         258,042 266,637  +5 153,214 482,440 
 -15  (774,127) (799,911)  -15 (459,642) (1,447,321) 
Others +5         375,514 616,355  +5 249,231 306 
 -15  (1,126,543) (1,849,064)  -15 (747,693) (918) 
 
 
24 OPERATIONAL RISK  
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When 
controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, 
or lead to financial loss. The Group cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but through a control 
framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Group is able to manage the risks. Controls 
include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation and reconciliation procedures, staff education and 
assessment processes, including the use of internal audit. 
 
 
25 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in 
order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  
 
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during 
the years ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008.  
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28 FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy: 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments: 
 
Level 1: quoted prices in active market for the same instrument 
 
Level 2: quoted  prices in active market for similar instruments or other valuation techniques for which all  

significant inputs are based on observable market data ; and 
 
Level 3: valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data 
 
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value 
hierarchy: 
 Level: 1 Level: 2 Level: 3 Total fair value
31 December 2009 KD  KD KD KD 
     
Financial assets at fair value    
Financial assets at fair value through income 
   statement:    

-  Quoted equity securities 1,393,634 -   -    1,393,634 
-  Unquoted equity securities -              9,415,595         9,415,595 
-  Quoted funds managed by external fund 
      managers -     

 
-   

  
           947,847 

 
    947,847 

Financial assets available for sale: -        
-  Unquoted equity investments -     -      6,348,775 6,348,775 
-  Unquoted funds managed by external fund 
      managers -     -     

 
467,989 

 
467,989 

-  Unquoted funds managed by the Parent 
    Company -     -     

 
7,642,905 

 
7,642,905 

──────── ──────── ──────── ────────
 1,393,634 -     24,823,111 26,216,745 

════════ ════════ ════════ ════════
 
During the year, there were no transfers between the hierarchies. The calculation of fair value of level 3 financial 
instruments is not materially sensitive to changes in assumptions.  
 
Following the amendments to IFRS 7, the Group is exempted from disclosing comparative information. 
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